IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,740

00

Florida Bar No: 184170

STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

2

_

ROBERT PETERSEN,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE JUL **28 1993**

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

> BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY

> > (With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Esquire Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305) 525-5885 - Broward (305) 940-7557 - Dade

and

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, will be referred to as State Farm or the Defendant.

The Respondent, Robert Petersen, will be referred to as Petersen or the Plaintiff.

All citations to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the Letter "R."

All citations to the Supplemental Record on Appeal will be referred to as "SR."

All emphasis in the Brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

-1-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Michael Grant and Robert Petersen each owned motorcycles which were involved in accidents with uninsured motorists. Each was insured under the same identical State Farm insurance policy. Each sued to obtain uninsured motorist coverage. In both cases the trial courts found that there was no coverage for the motorcycles since they were not listed under Grant's policy or Petersen's policy. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the finding of no coverage; while the Third District reversed, finding coverage; under identical facts, identical policy language, and with identical case law argued to both courts.

The Fourth District analyzed the case law argued to the court and concluded that the applicable statutes, precedent, and public policy compelled a finding of no coverage. <u>Grant v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D905 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 7, 1993). The Third District simply pronounced the identical policy ambiguous, without elaborating, and found coverage. <u>Petersen v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company</u>, 615 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993).

By so holding, the Third District created direct conflict with cases out of every other District and its opinion must be quashed eliminating the conflict.

The Facts

Robert Petersen owned a 1988 Ford pickup truck and a 1986 Yamaha motorcycle. State Farm issued a policy of insurance to Petersen which included uninsured motorist (UM) coverage (R 24).

-2-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

However, Petersen chose to insure only his truck under the policy, also he selected limited "U3" uninsured motorist coverage; and paid a lower premium rate (R 24-25). The Declarations Page, the policy and the Certificate of Coverage specifically name the Ford truck as the vehicle which the policy was intended to cover (R 21; SR 10). Coverage "U3" contains the following exclusion from uninsured motorist coverage:

When Coverage U3 Does Not Apply

THERE IS NO COVERAGE ...

3. FOR <u>BODILY INJURY</u> TO AN <u>INSURED</u> WHILE <u>OCCUPYING</u> A MOTOR VEHICLE OWNED BY <u>YOU, YOUR</u> <u>SPOUSE</u> OR ANY <u>RELATIVE</u> IF IT IS NOT INSURED FOR THIS COVERAGE UNDER THIS POLICY.... (SR 26)(emphasis in original).

This limited form of uninsured motorist coverage is not found in the available "U" coverage provision; and Petersen elected <u>not</u> to buy the more expensive "U" coverage (R 20).

Who is an Insured Coverage U

Insured - means the person or persons covered by uninsured motorist vehicle coverage. This is:

- 1. the first **person** named in the declarations;
- 2. his or her spouse;
- 3. their relatives; and
- 4. any other **person** while occupying:
 - a. your car, a temporary substitute car, a newly acquired car or a trailer attached to such car.

Such vehicle has to be used within the scope of the consent of you or your

-3-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

spouse; or

b. a car not owned by you, your spouse or any relative, or a trailer attached to such a car. It has to be driven by the first person named in the declarations or that person's spouse and within the scope of the owner's consent.

Such other **person occupying** a vehicle used to carry **persons** for a charge is not an **insured**. This does not apply to the use on a share expense basis.

5. any **person** entitled to recover damages because of **bodily injury** to an **insured** under 1 through 4 above.

Therefore, Petersen decided to insure only his pickup truck under the State Farm policy and to have a limited form of UM coverage.

On February 22, 1991, Petersen was involved in an accident with an uninsured motorist, while he was riding his motorcycle, which Petersen did not insure under the State Farm policy. (R 19-20).

The Case

Petersen filed a declaratory judgment action seeking a determination that he was entitled to UM coverage for the accident on his motorcycle (R 2-4; 10). Petersen <u>agreed</u> that his motorcycle was not insured under the policy (R 11; 16). However, his position was that the term "motor vehicle" found in the above "U3" exclusionary clause did not include motorcycles; therefore he argued that there was coverage for his motorcycle anyway, because the policy did not expressly exclude UM coverage for motorcycles (R 11). In other words, he agreed that his motorcycle was not insured under the policy, but claimed that

-4-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

there was an issue as to whether he was covered for an accident with an uninsured motorist, while he was riding his motorcycle (R 11).

Basically, Petersen's stance was that, because the policy did not contain a definition for the term "motor vehicle," either in the definition section at the beginning of the policy, or in the UM coverage section, he claimed that he was entitled to UM coverage based on the definition of motor vehicle in the No-Fault section of the policy, because it did not exclude motorcycle (R 12-13). The PIP definition stated:

Motor Vehicle - means a vehicle with four or more wheels that:

- 1. is self-propelled and is of a type:
 - a. designed for, and
 - b. required to be licensed for use on Florida highways; or
- is a trailer or semitrailer designed for use with a vehicle described in 1 above.

It does not include:

1.20

1. a mobile home; or

- 2. any motor vehicle which is:
 - a. used in mass transit or public school transportation; and
 - b. designed to transport more than five passengers, exclusive of the operator; and
 - c. owned by a municipality, a transit or public school transportation authority, or a political subdivision of the state.

N 1664

-5-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

The definition section at the front of the policy defined the term "car" as:

...a land motor vehicle with four or more wheels which is designed for use mainly on public roads....

(SR 14).

In the liability section of the policy, coverage exists for damages "caused by accident resulting from the ownership, maintenance or use of <u>your car</u>..." or the insured's use of a "<u>newly acquired car</u>, a <u>temporary substitute car</u>, or a <u>non-owned</u> <u>car</u>" (SR 17). In other words, liability coverage is only extended to accidents arising out of the insured's ownership, use or maintenance of a "car" as defined in the policy (SR 17). That is why there was no dispute in the trial court below that Petersen's motorcycle was not insured under the policy.

The policy defined various terms, which are used throughout the policy, and these defined terms appear in bold face italics wherever they are used (SR 14). The term "motor vehicle," as used in the UM section of the policy, does not appear in bold italics (SR 24). Conversely, the defined term "car" appears in bold italics throughout the liability section and the UM section (SR 14).

Petersen argued that the policy, by its express terms, did not exclude his motorcycle from UM coverage (R 13). He further argued that the policy was <u>not</u> ambiguous, and that it must be given full effect (R 13). Therefore, Petersen contended, there was no need for the court to resort to rules of construction for

-6-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

interpretation of the policy (R 13).

Petersen asserted that the definition of the term "motor vehicle" found in the No-Fault section should control whether or not there was UM coverage (R 12-13). The No-Fault section defines the term "motor vehicle" to mean a vehicle "with four or more wheels" (SR 20).

In other words, Petersen argued that the policy provision which <u>excluded</u> his motorcycle from No-Fault coverage, gave him UM coverage for his motorcycle, even though he stipulated that the policy did not provide liability insurance.

The parties filed Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment (R 10-23). The trial judge granted State Farm's Motion and entered a Final Judgment finding no UM coverage for the motorcycle accident (R 32-35). The trial judge made the following findings:

> 1. On February 22, 1992 [sic - 1991], Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, was operating a 1986 Yamaha motorcycle when he collided with another vehicle.

> 2. Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, contracted with Defendant, STATE FARM, for a policy of insurance which listed his 1988 Ford Pickup Truck as the insured vehicle. The 1986 Yamaha motorcycle was not insured under this policy.

3. The insurance policy issued by Defendant, STATE FARM, included uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage. Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, selected "U3 nonstacking" uninsured motorist coverage versus "U stacking" uninsured motorist coverage.

4. The Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, paid a lower premium due to his selection of "U3 non-stacking" uninsured motorist coverage.

-7-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

5. Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, allegedly sustained damages while operating his 1986 Yamaha motorcycle on February 22, 1991 and seeks coverage under the above policy of insurance.

6. The insurance policy issued by Defendant, STATE FARM, to Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, regarding the "U3 non-stacking' [sic] coverage, states the following:

> There is <u>no coverage</u>...for bodily injury to an insured while occupying a motor vehicle owned by you...if it is not insured for this coverage under this policy....

> > * :

6. [sic] Florida Statute §627.727(9) permits insurers to offer policies of uninsured motorist coverage containing conditions and limitations which the insured has the option to accept.

7. [sic] The Florida statutary [sic] definitions regarding motor vehicles and definition section within the Plaintiff's insurance policy, to be read in pari materia, define a motorcycle as a motor vehicle.

Based on the above findings of fact, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED:

That the Defendant's Motion for 1. Summary Judgment is GRANTED. The Court finds that the motorcycle operated by Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, on February 22, 1991 is a "motor vehicle" and therfore, the insurance policy's "U3 non-stacking" exclusion provision does apply. Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, selected "U3 non-stacking" uninsured motorist coverage for which he payed [sic] a lower premium. Additionally, Plaintiff chose to insure only his 1988 Ford Pickup Truck under his policy of insurance with Defendant, STATE FARM. The Florida Statutes and the definition section within Plaintiff's policy of insurance define a motorcycle as a "motor vehicle' [sic]. Therefore, the policy is to be construed against the Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN, and

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

in favor of the insurer, Defendant, STATE FARM.

2. Plaintiff, ROBERT PETERSEN's Motion for Summary Judgment is DENIED.

Petersen appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, restating his argument that the express language of the State Farm policy provided coverage for the Yamaha, but now contending for the first time on appeal that the policy was ambiguous. The Third District reversed, finding that the policy was ambiguous, because the court found that the definition of the term "motor vehicle" found in the No-Fault section of the policy made it "unclear" whether the No-Fault definition applied. <u>Petersen</u>, <u>supra</u>.

State Farm sought jurisdiction in this Court to settle the obvious direct and express conflict with <u>Grant</u>, <u>supra</u>, where the Fourth District was presented with identical facts, identical insurance policies, and identical arguments, but reached the totally opposite, but correct legal result.

-9-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 + TEL. (305) 525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 + TEL. (305) 940-7557

1.18

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's ruling finding no UM coverage on an uninsured motorcycle was correct and was in accordance with the applicable statutes and case law, and must be reinstated.

By statute, insurers are permitted to offer optional insurance provisions, which limit UM coverage to vehicles insured by the policy, for a lower premium. In this case, Petersen chose such coverage, and paid a lower premium to insure his pickup truck only. Therefore, there was no liability or UM coverage on his uninsured motorcycle, as correctly determined by the trial court below and the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Grant</u>.

The policy expressly does not provide UM coverage for a "motor vehicle," such as the motorcycle owned by the insured, which is not insured under the policy. Petersen chose this coverage. Now he seeks to circumvent the limited coverage he purchased, by arguing that the P.I.P. definition of the term "motor vehicle," which also excludes motorcycles, must control to provide coverage for his motorcycle, which he chose not to insure.

However, the definition in the No-Fault section, which excludes PIP coverage for motorcycles, clearly does not apply to <u>extend</u> UM coverage, under any reasonable reading of the policy, especially when Petersen conceded he had no liability coverage on the motorcycle. Moreover, the No-Fault definition found in the No-Fault section of the policy simply tracks the definition required by the No-Fault statute, and Florida courts have

-10-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A. SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL. (305) 525+5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305) 940-7557 consistently held that this definition, even when found within an insurance policy, cannot control in UM cases as a matter of law and public policy.

The term "motor vehicle" does not appear in the UM section in bold italics, and is not one of the defined terms in the policy for the purposes of UM coverage. Therefore, it must instead be given its everyday, ordinary meaning. The Appellant's Brief filed in the Third District referred to Petersen's motorcycle as having been involved in a "vehicular accident," and even referred to it as a "vehicle," and it hardly requires any mental gymnastics to conclude that a <u>motor</u>cycle is a "motor vehicle," and excluded from UM coverage in this policy.

Moreover, reading all of the Florida Statutes in <u>pari</u> <u>materia</u>, it is apparent that all the statutes defining motor vehicle include motorcycles. The only statute which does not include a motorcycle within the definition of a "motor vehicle" is the No-Fault statute; where the legislature has made it clear that P.I.P. coverage is not to apply to motorcycles. The courts have also held that the P.I.P. statute cannot apply to UM cases.

Because the plain ordinary meaning of the term "motor vehicle" includes a motorcycle, there is no UM coverage for Petersen's uninsured motorcycle under the policy, and the Third District's decision must be reversed, and Summary Judgment for State Farm must be reinstated.

-11-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT MUST BE REVERSED, AS THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR STATE FARM WHERE THE POLICY LANGUAGE CLEARLY AND UNAMBIGUOUSLY DID NOT AFFORD UM COVERAGE TO PETERSEN.

The Third District has created direct and express conflict with <u>Grant</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the <u>Grant</u> opinion should be approved, finding no UM coverage for an uninsured motorcycle. The Third District in finding coverage, ignored a plethora of legal authority, as well as the fact that Petersen undisputedly knew that he did not pay for the coverage he nonetheless sought.

The Fourth District examined the identical State Farm policy, and heard the identical legal arguments from both sides on the same facts. The Fourth District addressed the issue on the merits, and resolved the question of coverage favorably to State Farm, finding no UM coverage. The Third District, in contrast, chose to declare the exact same policy ambiguous, and declined to address the real merits.

The opinion of the Third District strongly suggests a willingness to summarily declare a policy ambiguous, and refused to apply common sense in reading the policy, just because the policy did not define every single term it contained. In other words, the Third District has basically refused to apply the everyday meaning of a term not expressly defined in the policy, resulting in an "automatic" ambiguity. It is urged that, if such a rule of law prevails, insurance companies will be forced to attach glossaries to their policies which are far more voluminous

-12-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

than the policies themselves.

In <u>Grant</u>, the Fourth District was presented with a scenario indistinguishable from the present case. The insured in that case owned a Corvette and a motorcycle. However, exactly as Petersen chose to insure only his truck, Grant elected to insure only his Corvette under his State Farm policy, by also purchasing the less expensive U-3 coverage. <u>Grant</u>, D906. The Fourth District refused to find the policy ambiguous, and correctly held that there was no UM coverage for Grant's motorcycle/motor vehicle.

Interestingly, the Fourth District relied on two Third District decisions to find that a motorcycle was a motor vehicle for purposes of UM coverage. <u>Grant</u>, 906, <u>State Farm Mutual</u> <u>Automobile Insurance Company v. Kuhn</u>, 374 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 383 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980); <u>infra</u>; <u>Indomenico v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance</u> <u>Company</u>, 388 So. 2d 29, 30 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). The <u>Grant</u> court began with <u>Standard Marine Insurance Company v. Allyn</u>, 333 So. 2d 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), which directly rejected the PIP definition of motor vehicle for purposes of UM coverage.

> We do not perceive that the legislature, by enacting the Florida Automobile Reparations Reform Act, intended to exclude those motor vehicles...from the umbrella of uninsured motorists. The statutory definition of a "motor vehicle found in the financial Responsibility Act is far more consonant with the public policy of this state as to uninsured motorist than the "PIP" definition in the instant policy.... 333 So. 2d at 499 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added). <u>Grant</u>, D906.

The Fourth District then found that the Third District had

-13-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

used this same reasoning to deny coverage to a policy holder in

<u>Kuhn</u>.

Robert Kuhn had two separate insurance policies; one for his truck and one for his motorcycle. The policy for his truck included UM coverage, but in the policy for his motorcycle, Kuhn specifically rejected UM coverage. Id. at 1080.

While riding his motorcycle, Kuhn was involved in an accident with an uninsured motorist and later submitted a claim for UM benefits under his truck policy. <u>Id.</u> State Farm denied coverage, and the trial court granted a summary judgment in favor of Kuhn. <u>Id.</u> On appeal, the Third District reversed that summary judgment, holding that Kuhn was restricted to the coverage in the policy issued on the motorcycle since the motorcycle was involved in the accident, not the truck, <u>Id.</u> at 1081.

Citing section 627.4132, Florida Statutes (1977), which prohibits the stacking of UM coverage, the court held, "[h]aving rejected uninsured motorist coverage thereon [his motorcycle], he is not entitled to the uninsured motorist benefits provided for in his truck policy under the plain terms of the statute." 374 So.2d at 1081. <u>Accord</u> <u>Indomenico v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.</u>, 388 So.2d 29, 30 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

We note in passing that since <u>Indomineco</u> and <u>Kuhn</u> were decided, section 627.4132 has been amended to omit its reference to UM coverage. <u>See New Hampshire Ins. Group v.</u> <u>Harbach</u>, 439 So.2d 1383, 1385 (Fla. 1983); Ch. 80-364, §1 at 1495, Laws of Fla. In our view, the reasoning in the foregoing cases and the public policy considerations of <u>Allyn</u> remain viable and continue to be applicable to the situation presented by the instant case.

Grant, D906.

The Third District apparently rejected the same case, which State Farm argued in <u>Petersen</u>.

-14-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL. (305) 525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305) 940-7557

50

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