IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,740

STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY CO.,

Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT PETERSEN,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

LAWRENCE E. MAJOR, P.A. Lawrence E. Major, Esquire Leslie C. Elrod, Esquire Grove Forest Plaza, #301 2937 S.W. 27th Avenue Coconut Grove, FL 33133 (305) 444-9695

Attorneys for Respondent

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

All emphasis is supplied by counsel unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Because STATE FARM's Statement of the Facts is replete with surplus, argumentative narrative, PETERSEN restates the facts which are material to the issue raised in this appeal.

On February 22, 1991, ROBERT PETERSEN was severely injured when he was involved in a vehicular accident with an uninsured/underinsured motorist. (R. 2-4) At the time of the accident, PETERSEN had a valid policy of insurance issued by STATE FARM which provided UM benefits, as follows:

We will pay damages for bodily injury an insured is legally entitled to collect from the owner or driver of an uninsured motor vehicle. The bodily injury must be caused by accident arising out of the operation, maintenance or use or an uninsured motor vehicle.

(R. 5-7, A. 3)

The listed vehicle on the STATE FARM policy was a 1988 Ford Truck. (A. 1) At the time of the accident, PETERSEN was operating a 1986 Yamaha Motorcycle which was not listed on the policy.

The policy endorsement involved in this case -- "Coverage U3" -- contains the following provisions:

3. Except as provided in item 3 of "If There Is Other Uninsured Motor Vehicle Coverage", regardless of the number of motor vehicles involved, the number of persons covered or claims made, vehicles or premiums shown in the policy or premiums paid, the limit of liability for uninsured motor vehicle coverage shall not be added to or stacked upon limits for such coverages applying to other motor vehicles to determine the amount of coverage available to an insured injured in any one accident.

The policy further provides under the heading "When Coverage U3 Does Not Apply" that"

THERE IS NO COVERAGE:

FOR BODILY INJURY TO AN INSURED WHILE OCCUPYING A MOTOR VEHICLE OWNED BY YOU, YOUR SPOUSE OR ANY RELATIVE IF IT IS NOT INSURED FOR THIS COVERAGE UNDER THIS POLICY. This does not apply to an insured occupying a newly acquired car which has no uninsured motor vehicle coverage applicable to it.

(A.6)

The term "motor vehicle" which is used in the above exclusionary provision for U3 coverage is defined once in the policy: it is not defined at the beginning of the policy in the section captioned "DEFINED WORDS WHICH ARE USED IN SEVERAL PARTS OF THE POLICY." (A. 5) The term is not defined in the liability section of the policy or in the UM section of the policy. "Motor

vehicle" is defined in the No-Fault section of the policy, as follows:

Motor Vehicle -- means a vehicle with four or more wheels that:

- is self-propelled and is of a type;
 - a. designed for, and
 - required to be licensed for use on Florida highways; or
- 2. is a trailer or semitrailer designed for use with a vehicle described in (1) above.

(A. 11)

PETERSEN filed suit against STATE FARM, seeking a declaration of his entitlement to UM benefits under the policy of insurance.

(R. 2-4) On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court entered judgment in favor of STATE FARM (R. 32-34) The Third District Court of Appeal reversed, holding that the use of the term "motor vehicle" in the UM exclusionary provision was ambiguous in light of the express definition contained in one section of the policy and that such ambiguity must be strictly construed against STATE FARM. Petersen v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 615 So.2d 181, 182 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)

The decision of the Third District directly and expressly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Grant v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 18 Fla. L. Weekly D905 (Fla. 4th DCA April 7, 1993)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As will be shown below, the decision of the Third DCA is a correct interpretation and application of well-established legal principles. Accordingly, the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

A definition contained within an automobile insurance policy is to be followed by the court in determining the issue of coverage. The section of the State Farm policy which defines "motor vehicle" unambiguously refers to a vehicle with "four or more wheels." Because the motorcycle on which PETERSEN was riding is not a "motor vehicle" within the express terms of the policy, the exclusionary provisions relied upon by STATE FARM do not apply and UM coverage was improperly denied.

In the alternative, the term "motor vehicle" as used in the policy is ambiguous because it is susceptible of two reasonable interpretations, with one meaning affording coverage and the other excluding coverage. This conflict in the policy arises by virtue of the fact that the term "motor vehicle" is expressly defined in one section as a four-wheeled vehicle and no different definition of "motor vehicle" is provided elsewhere in the policy as to any different meaning intended by STATE FARM to apply to the UM exclusionary clause. Common usage and statutory definitions are not consistent and thus do not resolve the ambiguity. Particularly in the context of an exclusion clause, it is incumbent upon STATE FARM to use language which is conspicuous, plain and clear and if the term is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation --

with one resulting in coverage and the other resulting in a denial of coverage -- then the policy is ambiguous and the issue of coverage must be decided in favor of the insured and the existence of coverage.

Finally, as a class I, named insured, PETERSEN cannot be denied UM benefits based on the vehicle which he occupied at the time of the accident because the policy language did not clearly and unambiguously exclude coverage.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL IS CORRECT AND SHOULD
BE AFFIRMED WHEN, BY ITS EXPRESS TERMS,
THE POLICY OF INSURANCE DOES NOT EXCLUDE
THE PROVISION OF UM BENEFITS TO AN INSURED
WHO WAS OPERATING A MOTORCYCLE, OR, IN THE
ALTERNATIVE, THE USE OF THE TERM "MOTOR
VEHICLE" IN THE EXCLUSIONARY PROVISION
CREATED AMBIGUITY WHICH MUST BE STRICTLY
CONSTRUED AGAINST STATE FARM

The dispositive issue presented for this Court's determination is whether the STATE FARM policy exclusion for UM benefits is reasonably susceptible of two different meanings, with one interpretation affording coverage and the other excluding coverage. PETERSEN believes that this issue is inextricably intertwined with the first point raised by STATE FARM concerning the motorcycle not being a listed vehicle in that the resolution of both questions turns on whether PETERSEN, a Class I named insured, was unambiguously excluded by the policy language from UM coverage when he was operating a motorcycle at the time of the accident with the underinsured motorist.

The general principles of law which control this case are well established and are set forth briefly as follows:

- (1) The public policy of this state requires the upholding of uninsured motorist protection to insureds whenever possible. Salas v. Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Co., 272 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973);
- (2) Insurance policies are construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer and where the meaning of the policy language is doubtful, uncertain or ambiguous, the doubt is resolved in favor of greater coverage. State Farm Mutual

Automobile Insurance Co. v. Pridgen, 498 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1986);

State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Mallard, 548 So.2d

733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989);

- (3) Exclusionary provisions are construed even more strictly than coverage clauses. <u>Demshar v. Aaacon Auto Transport, Inc.</u>, 337 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1976); <u>Wallach v. Rosenberg</u>, 527 So.2d 1386 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 536 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1988); and,
- (4) Conflicts between provisions of an automobile insurance policy are to be resolved in favor of the policyholder. <u>Dyer v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co.</u>, 276 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1973)

The application of these precepts to the facts of this case compel the affirmance of the Third District's decision.

A. Petersen, as a class I, named insured is entitled to UM benefits regardless of his location at the time of the accident

As a Class I insured, PETERSEN is entitled to UM coverage so long as he sustained bodily injury as a result of a vehicular accident with an uninsured motorist. His entitlement to UM benefits is not dependent upon his location at the time of the accident with the uninsured motorist. Florida Farm Bureau v. Hurtado, 587 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1991). In the absence of a knowing acceptance by PETERSEN of limited coverage, an exclusion of UM benefits based on the vehicle which he occupied at the time of the accident is invalid. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co. v. Phillips, 609 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Carbonell v. Auto. Ins. Co. of Hartford, Connecticut, 562 So.2d 437 (Fla. 3d DCA

1990). Such exclusion from UM coverage (based on the type of vehicle occupied at the time of the accident) must be expressed in clear, plain and unambiguous language. <u>Hodges v. National Union Indemnity Co.</u>, 249 So.2d 679 (Fla.), <u>conformed to 251 So.2d 894</u> (Fla. 3d DCA 1971)

Despite STATE FARM's claim to the contrary, evidence is conspicuously absent from the record in this case that PETERSEN knowingly accepted limited UM coverage. Moreover, the policy language which limits UM coverage speaks in terms of "motor vehicles" so the only time that PETERSEN would not be entitled to UM benefits is when he occupied a "motor vehicle" which he owned but had not insured for UM coverage. As will be discussed more fully below, the term "motor vehicle" could reasonably be interpreted not to include the motorcycle which PETERSEN was riding at the time of the accident therefore he was not excluded from UM coverage.

The cases cited by STATE FARM do not support a different result. Both Prinzo v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 465 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) and Standard Marine Insurance Co. v. Allyn, 333 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) deal with the question of when UM coverage is triggered, instead of the exclusion issue which is involved in the present case.

In <u>Allyn</u>, the insured, a pedestrian, was struck by an uninsured motorcycle. The insurer, Standard Marine, denied UM benefits, asserting that the policy's definition of "motor vehicle", contained within the PIP section, clearly excluded a two-

wheeled motorcycle. <u>Id</u>. at 498. The Court rejected this argument and held that the motorcycle was a motor vehicle for purposes of triggering UM coverage. This case reflects the strong public policy of the state of Florida which requires the upholding of UM protection to insureds whenever possible. <u>See</u>, <u>State Farm v. Mallard</u>, 548 So.2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

In <u>Prinzo</u>, the insured, also a pedestrian, was struck by a moped. Once again, the insurer claimed that UM coverage was not triggered since the Moped was not a "motor vehicle." The Court upheld the denial of benefits in this case, noting that the moped was neither four-wheeled nor self-propelled.

Neither Allyn nor Prinzo involves the specific question presented in this case of whether UM benefits can be denied to a Class I named insured who was operating a motorcycle at the time of the accident with the uninsured motorist when the exclusionary provision uses the term "motor vehicle" which is defined elsewhere in the policy as a four-wheeled vehicle. This Court's decision in Valiant Insurance Company v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990) is also not illuminating on this issue but simply reaffirms this Court's earlier holding in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) that section 627.727(1) Florida Statutes requires that UM coverage must be provided to persons covered under the policy for liability.

Because PETERSEN is a class I insured, he cannot be denied UM benefits based on the vehicle which he occupied at the time of the accident because the policy language did not clearly and

unambiguously exclude coverage.

B. The policy's express definition of "motor vehicle" should be applied in construing the UM exclusionary provision

STATE FARM has offered no authority for its contention that this Court should not consider the express definition of "motor vehicle" contained within the policy in resolving the issue of whether PETERSEN is entitled to UM benefits. Contrary to STATE FARM's argument, courts, in interpreting an automobile policy, follow the definitions expressed in the policy. Dorrell v. State Fire and Casualty Company, 221 So.2d 5 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969). [Definition of "automobile" contained in liability portion of policy applied to define "automobile" as used in UM provision.]

Many of the cases relied upon by STATE FARM illustrate this principle and thus shed little or no light on the question actually presented in this case. For example, in <u>Indomenico v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co.</u>, 388 S.2d 29, 30 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), the policy <u>expressly</u> defined the term used in the exclusionary provision as "a land motor vehicle or trailer other than a vehicle operated on rails or crawler heads..."

In <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Caronia</u>, 395 So.2d 1221, 1223 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), the homeowners' policy at issue contained an exclusion for "any motor vehicle owned...by...any insured." The policy <u>expressly</u> defined "motor vehicle" as "a land motor vehicle, trailer or semitrailer designed for travel on public roads..." <u>Id.</u> at 1223.

The policy in <u>Dorrell v. State Fire and Casualty Co.</u>, 221 So.2d 5, 6 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) contained an <u>express</u> definition of the term "automobile" to mean "a land motor vehicle or trailer not operated on rails or crawler threads." The Court found that motorcycles were encompassed within this definition. <u>Id.</u> at 6.

In <u>Johnson v. Uniqued Insurance Co.</u>, 387 So.2d 1059, 1060 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), the homeowners' policy <u>expressly</u> defined "motor vehicle" as a "land motor vehicle, trailer or semi-trailer designed for travel on public roads."

If, in its UM exclusionary provision, STATE FARM intended some other meaning of "motor vehicle" to apply -- apart from the definition of "four-wheeled vehicle" expressed elsewhere in the policy -- then it had an obligation to clearly and unambiguously state the revised definition in the UM section. Because it failed to do so, this Court should follow the express definition set forth in the policy.

C. The ordinary, everyday meaning and statutory usage of the term "motor vehicle" does not resolve the ambiguity in the UM exclusionary provision

STATE FARM's contention that this Court should ignore the policy's express definition of "motor vehicle" and instead, resort to the "ordinary, everyday meaning" of the term in interpreting this coverage issue is contrary to the established rule of law that courts should resort to construction of the policy based on "ordinary meaning" only when the pertinent term is undefined in the policy. Security Insurance Company of Hartford v. Commercial Credit Equipment Corporation, 399 So.2d 31 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

The cases cited by STATE FARM in support of its argument for "ordinary meaning" all involve situations where the policy did not define the pertinent term. In Saha v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 427 So.2d 316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), the homeowner's policy did not specifically define the term "farm land" which was used in the exclusionary provision. The Court, thus, resorted to the ordinary dictionary definition and upheld the insurer's denial of coverage.

The case of <u>Security Insurance Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, dealt solely with the issue of the applicability of exclusionary clauses in an insurance policy to a breach of warranty endorsement. Because the policy did not define the term "loss", the Court resorted to the common meaning of the word and ruled in favor of coverage.

Similarly, in <u>Sanz v. Reserve Insurance Company of Chicago</u>, <u>Illinois</u>, 172 So.2d 912 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965), the automobile insurance policy did not define the term "servicing" so the court looked to its commonly understood meaning and determined that coverage was required.

Other cases cited by STATE FARM are inapplicable because they involve clearly worded exclusionary provisions (with no conflicting definitions elsewhere in the policies.) For example, in <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Pridgen</u>, 498 So.2d 1245, 1246 (Fla. 1986), this Court upheld an exclusionary provision which clearly and unambiguously excepted coverage for "loss to any vehicle due to...conversion...by any person who has the vehicle due to any...sales agreement." The facts of the case fell squarely within the exclusion because the two insured vehicles were transferred

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